THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No.: 2010-165126

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JUSTIN RYAN HILLERBY,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tricia A. Blanchette
PO Box 12725
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 988-0008

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
FEB 22 2013
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO SUPPRESS THE STATEMENTS ATTRIBUTED TO APPELLANT.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF TWO WITNESSES OVER COUNSEL'S OBJECTION THAT THE TESTIMONY WAS INADMISSIBLE PRIOR BAD ACT TESTIMONY PURSUANT TO RULE 404(B), SCRE, AND STATE V. LYLE, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF MS. GEORGOULIS OVER COUNSEL'S OBJECTIONS THAT THE TESTIMONY WAS NOT RELEVANT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the December 2008 term of the Berkeley County Grand Jury, Appellant was indicted for Homicide by Child Abuse (Indictment No.: 2008-GS-08-2594). On October 21, 2009, a pre-trial motion hearing was held in front of the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington at the Berkeley County Courthouse. Appellant was present and represented by J. Michael Bosnak, Esquire.¹ The State was represented by Anne Williams, Assistant Solicitor for Berkeley County.

On February 22-25, 2010, a jury trial was held in front of the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury at the Berkeley County Courthouse. Appellant was represented by J. Michael Bosnak, Esquire. The State was represented by Anne Williams, Assistant Solicitor. At the close of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted for Homicide by Child Abuse (Indictment No.: 2008-GS-08-2594). The Honorable Kristi L. Harrington sentenced Appellant to life pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-3-85(A)(1)(2010).

On February 26, 2010, Appellant, through counsel, filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence. The State filed a response and a hearing was conducted on April 29, 2010 in front of the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington at the Berkeley County Courthouse. Appellant was represented by J. Michael Bosnak, Esquire. The State was represented by Anne Williams, Assistant Solicitor. By written order dated April 29, 2010, the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington affirmed Appellant's sentence.

A timely Notice of Intent to Appeal was submitted and Appellant's case was transferred to the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense. On June 2, 2011, Tricia A. Blanchette, undersigned counsel, filed a Motion for Substitution of Counsel. By Order dated June 8, 2011,

¹ In an attempt to locate additional pre-trial motion hearing transcripts, Appellant's counsel did the following: 1) reviewed the Berkeley County Clerk of Court's file and consulted with the Clerk assigned to the case, 2) contacted South Carolina Court Administration, Anne Williams, Assistant Solicitor, and J. Michael Bosnak, Esquire, and 3) contacted several court reporters involved in the case. No additional transcripts were located in connection with Appellant's case in the Court of General Sessions.

Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire, was substituted in as counsel and Tristan Shaffer, Appellate Defender, was relieved as counsel. This Brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred By Failing to Suppress the Statements Attributed to Appellant.

A. How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

At the beginning of trial, defense counsel requested a ruling on three statements attributed to Appellant, and the trial court conducted a Jackson v. Denno hearing. R. p. 9. The State clarified that there were three statements attributed to Appellant, which were dated September 15, 2008, September 17, 2008, and September 18, 2008, and a verbal statement given to Officer Raymond Dixson on September 18, 2008. R. p. 102. During the Jackson v. Denno hearing, the State called Detective Shannon Sharp, Officer Richard Darling, and Detective Raymond Dixson, and their testimony is summarized as follows:

Detective Shannon Sharp explained that he had been trained in the REID technique for interviews and interrogation, and he obtained three statements from Appellant dated September 15th, 17th and 18th. R. pp. 11-12, 23. He explained that he gave Appellant his Miranda rights and had him execute a written Miranda and waiver of rights form on each occasion, but it was not policy to video or audio record interviews. R. pp. 12-13, 18-19. He also explained that Appellant wanted to talk with him and did not want an attorney. R. pp. 20-1.

Regarding their first meeting on September 15, 2008, he testified that Appellant was present voluntarily. R. pp. 28. He recalled smelling alcohol on Appellant, but he concluded that Appellant was not intoxicated. R. pp. 31. As the interview was concluding, he had to call emergency services since Appellant was suffering from chest pains and dizziness. R. pp. 29-30, 55-6.

On September 17, 2008, he met with Appellant again since a polygraph had been set up for Appellant with Detective Dixson. R. p. 33. Detective Sharp explained that Appellant backed

out of the polygraph exam but asked to talk to him. R. pp. 33-4. When they talked, Appellant was not in custody but was arrested due to the written statement Appellant gave Detective Sharp. R. pp. 35-6, 53. He acknowledged that Appellant only had a ninth grade education and the statement was written in one continual sentence. R. pp. 39-40. On cross-examination, he admitted that he may have informed Appellant that the victim's death was possibly an accident, and he confirmed that it was possible that he told Appellant no one would get in trouble for an accident. R. pp. 54-5.

Detective Dixon testified that he set up a polygraph interview with Appellant for September 17, 2008 and Appellant was not under arrest when he arrived. R. pp. 84-6. He acknowledged that Detective Sharp was present in the room. R. pp. 95. Prior to the administration of the test, Appellant admitted that he had some beers and had taken sleeping pills, but he was not feeling the effects of the drugs or alcohol. R. p. 88. After completing the Miranda waiver, he asked several preliminary questions, but Appellant withdrew from the test before answering the first question about the victim's death. He explained Appellant terminated the test, but he did not terminate the interview. R. p. 96. He recounted several admissions supposedly made by Appellant, and he stated that Appellant never asked for an attorney. R. pp. 98-9.

Officer Darling recalled transporting Appellant to and from his bond hearing on September 18, 2008. R. pp. 63, 78. He explained that he did not induce Appellant to talk, and the video was not working in his patrol car. R. pp. 64, 81. He further explained that Appellant started asking him about why he was not charged with a lesser offense. R. pp. 64. He recalled warning him about his right to remain silent, but he admitted that he told Appellant the following: 1) The truth would be revealed in the autopsy and it would show if Appellant was not

telling the truth; 2) He spoke with him about the media coverage and told him that the truth would set him free; and 3) He told him that God helps those that helps themselves. R. 67, 72-7. Thereafter, Appellant asked to be transported to talk with Detective Sharp. R. p. 77. He recounted taking Appellant to speak with Detective Sharp and being informed that Appellant had spoken with a female public defender while waiting to meet with the detective, which was confirmed by the detention sergeant at Berkeley County Detention Center. R. pp. 66, 79. On the return trip, Appellant told him that he could finally sleep. R. p. 68.

During the testimony of Officer Darling, the State introduced a copy of the bond proceedings, Appellant's request for an attorney dated September 23, 2008, notice of appointment of counsel on October 3, 2008, and substitution of attorney dated October 23, 2008. R. p. 69. The State argued that the three written and one oral statement were admissible and that Applicant never asked for counsel nor was counsel appointed until September 23, 2008. R. pp. 102-4. The State did acknowledge that Appellant met with a public defender but argued that Appellant willingly talked to the transport officer and detectives. R. pp. 103-4. Regarding Officer Darling, the State concluded: "And even if the Court were to think he was trying to trick him, which we contend he wasn't, there is case law that says even if police officers make misrepresentations, that it doesn't necessarily make the statement inadmissible." R.. 112-13, lns. 23-25,

In response, defense counsel argued that the court must apply a four part test when determining the admissibility of the statements attributed to Appellant. R. pp. 107-8. Defense counsel explained the first question was whether Appellant made the statements, and he stated: "And of course he made the statements." R. pp. 107-8, lns. 1-2. He said the second question dealt with Miranda warnings, and he acknowledged that Appellant was given his Miranda

warnings. R. p. 108, Ins. 3-5. He continued that the third question looked at whether Appellant understood his Miranda rights, and he concluded: “And I would say under the circumstances, having a GED, ninth grade, telling the officers that he did understand those, that he did understand his Miranda rights.” R. p. 108, Ins. 6-12. Yet, counsel acknowledged that it was for the trial court to rule on that issue. R. p. 108, Ins. 12-13. Counsel further explained that the problem was in the fourth question of whether the statements were freely and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances. R. p. 108. Counsel concluded that the statement given on September 15th was not incriminating, but the statements given on September 17th and 18th were both incriminating and coerced. R. pp. 108-9, 111, 113-114. Regarding the statement on September 17th, counsel highlighted the officers’ awareness that Appellant had drunk alcohol and taken sleeping pills and argued that the State had no probable cause until the statement was given. R. pp. 110, 113. Additionally, counsel argued that the officers made promises to Appellant in order to convince him that they were “buddy-buddy” and going to help him. R. p. 113. Counsel concluded that the statements should be suppressed under the totality of the circumstances. R. pp. 110-11.

After hearing the arguments, the trial court acknowledged that he must consider the totality of the circumstances and he concluded that under the totality of the circumstances the statements were voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently given. R. pp. 114-15. The court further held, as follows:

The Court finds that there was no coercion by any of the officers in any of the statements given by Mr. Hillerby. The Court considered whether Mr. Hillerby had been drinking. The odor of alcohol, but none of the officers indicated that impacted Mr. Hillerby’s understanding of the right.

R. pp. 115-16, Ins. 25, 1-5.

During the trial, the State admitted Appellant's three written statements through Detective Sharp. R. pp. 471, 478, 484-492. The State also called Officer Dixson in reply and he recounted the verbal admissions attributed to Appellant. R. p. 740.

B. Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006), State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001), State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 608 S.E.2d 435 (Ct. App. 2004). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (2000), State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 428 S.E.2d 871 (1993).

The trial judge determines the admissibility of a statement upon proof of its voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). If admitted, the jury must then determine whether the statement was given freely and voluntarily beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 55-6, 370 S.E.2d 611, 612 (1988).

Factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless such conclusions are erroneous and amount to an abuse of discretion." Baccus, 367 S.C. at 48, 625 S.E.2d at 220, State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001), State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998), State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 242, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996). "When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, this Court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence." Saltz, 346 S.C at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252.

C. Argument

A criminal defendant is deprived of due process if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession." State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 565, 647 S.E.2d 144, 164 (2007) (citing Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 377, 84 S.Ct. 1774 (1964)).

Questioning suspects "is often indispensable to crime detection. Its compelling necessity has been judicially recognized as its sufficient justification, even in a society which, like ours, stands strongly and constitutionally committed to the principle that persons accused of crime cannot be made to convict themselves out of their own mouths." Culombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 571, 81 S.Ct. 1860 (1961).

Under Jackson v. Denno, a defendant is entitled to a "reliable determination as to the voluntariness of his [statement] by a tribunal other than the jury charged with deciding his guilt or innocence." State v. Fortner, 266 S.C. 223, 226, 222 S.E.2d 508, 510 (1976); See Miller, 375 S.C. at 381, 652 S.E.2d at 450. "In South Carolina, the judge makes this initial determination of voluntariness required by Jackson v. Denno." Fortner, 266 S.C. at 226, 222 S.E.2d at 510.

In determining whether a statement was given "voluntarily," the court must consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statement. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 93 S. Ct. 2041 (1973). See also Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 279, 111 S. Ct. 1246 (1991) (applying totality of the circumstances test to determine confession's voluntariness), State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 139, 352 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1987) ("The test for determining the admissibility of a statement is whether it was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances.") (citing State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 272 S.E.2d 634 (1980)). Multiple factors are considered when deciding whether a

statement was made voluntarily. In South Carolina, the courts have recognized that appropriate factors to consider in the totality of circumstances analysis include: background, experience, conduct of the accused, age, length of custody, police misrepresentations, isolation of a minor from his or her parent, threats of violence, and promises of leniency. See State v. Childs, 299 S.C. 471, 475, 385 S.E.2d 839, 842 (1989) (background, experience, and conduct of the accused), In re Williams, 265 S.C. 295, 217 S.E.2d 719 (1975) (age), State v. Jennings, 280 S.C. 62, 309 S.E.2d 759 (1983) (length of custody), State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 461, 272 S.E.2d 634, 635 (1980) (police misrepresentations), State v. Smith, 268 S.C. 349, 355, 234 S.E.2d 19, 21 (1977) (isolation of minor), State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) (threats of violence and promises of leniency), State v. Cannon, 260 S.C. 537, 544, 197 S.E.2d 678, 680-81 (1973) (age, education level, manner of police questioning).

In the instant case, Appellant submits that the incriminating statements obtained on September 17th and 18th were obtained through misrepresentations and coercion by law enforcement, while he was admittedly under the influence of alcohol and sleeping pills, and after he had invoked his right to counsel; thus, rendering the statements inadmissible. In State v. Parker, 381 S.C. 68, 77-8, 671 S.E.2d 619, 623-4 (Ct. App. 2008), defense counsel extensively questioned the agent regarding his use of the Reid technique of interrogation, which this Court summarized feigned sympathy and rationalization. The agent would not concede that he used the Reid technique, and this Court was not convinced that the statement was inadmissible due to the agent's alleged minimization of Parker's sense of responsibility in getting him to confess. Id. at 78, 88, 671 S.E.2d 619 at 623-4, 629. Here, Detective Sharp admitted to the use of the Reid technique while obtaining Appellant's three written statements. R. pp. 11-12, 23. He testified that it was not policy to video or audio interviews, so the lower court was unable to view his

techniques. R. pp. 12-13, 18-19. He acknowledged that Appellant received emergency medical care after giving a non-incriminatory statement on September 15th. R. pp. 29-30, 55-6. He also admitted that prior to obtaining Appellant's statement on September 17th he may have told Appellant that the victim's death was possibly an accident and that no one would get in trouble for an accident. R. pp. 54-5.

Additionally, Officer Dixson admitted that as he transported Appellant to speak with detectives he told him that the truth would be revealed in the autopsy and it would show if Appellant was not telling the truth about the situation. R. pp. 67, 72-7. He also spoke with him about the media coverage and told him that the truth would set him free. R. pp. 67, 72-7. He told Appellant that God helps those that help themselves. R. pp. 67, 72-7.

In Miller v. Fenton, 796 F.2d 598, 604-05 (3d Cir. 1986), the Third Circuit Court of Appeals reasoned:

Few criminals feel impelled to confess to the police purely of their own accord without any questioning at all Thus, it can almost always be said that the interrogation caused the confession It is generally recognized that the police may use some psychological tactics in eliciting a statement from a suspect These ploys may play a part in the suspect's decision to confess, but so long as that decision is a product of the suspect's own balancing of competing considerations, the confession is voluntary.

The Court further reasoned:

Excessive friendliness on the part of an interrogator can be deceptive. In some instances, in combination with other tactics, it might create an atmosphere in which a suspect forgets that his questioner is in an adversarial role, and thereby prompt admissions that the suspect would ordinarily only make to a friend, not to the police."

Id. at 604. Ultimately, the lower court must determine if the defendant's will was overborne by law enforcement. Here, Appellant gave a non-incriminating statement on September 15th, which ended in emergency care for chest pains and dizziness. Clearly, his physical will was

overborne and broken down by law enforcement. Thereafter, Appellant appeared voluntarily for a polygraph exam attended by Detective Sharpe, where he candidly admitted that he had drunk alcohol and had taken sleeping pills. Despite Appellant's clear admissions and refusal to continue with the polygraph exam, Detective Sharpe convinced Appellant to speak with him and assured Appellant with his comments about it being an accident and that no one would get in trouble for an accident. As a result, the Appellant gave the statement on September 17th that resulted in his arrest. In continuation of the coercion and misrepresentations by law enforcement, Officer Dixson again made assurances to Appellant that led to a second incriminating statement. Clearly, from the time of his physical breakdown following his first statement to the procurement of the third statement, Appellant's will was overborne by law enforcement, he was unable to consider his options and voluntarily waive his Miranda rights before deciding to give an incriminating statement to law enforcement that resulted in his arrest.

Furthermore, defense counsel argued and law enforcement testified that Appellant had been to bond proceeding and spoken with a public defender prior to his uncounseled statement on September 18, 2008. The Fifth Amendment's privilege against self-incrimination provides an individual who has been accused of a crime the right to consult with an attorney and to have an attorney present during custodial interrogation. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 478-79, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966). This privilege has been extended to the States via the Fourteenth Amendment. Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 6, 84 S.Ct. 1489 (1964) ("[T]he Fifth Amendment's exception from compulsory self-incrimination is also protected by the Fourteenth Amendment against abridgment by the States."). Once an accused has invoked his right to have an attorney present during custodial interrogation, he may not be subjected to further police interrogation "unless the

accused himself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 484-85, 101 S.Ct. 1880 (1981).

In contrast, "[t]he Sixth Amendment right to counsel 'attaches only at or after the initiation of adversary judicial proceedings against the defendant.'" State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 620, 690 S.E.2d 565, 571 (2010) (quoting United States v. Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 187, 104 S.Ct. 2292 (1984)). "[A] criminal defendant's initial appearance before a judicial officer, where he learns the charge against him and his liberty is subject to restriction, marks the start of adversary judicial proceedings that trigger attachment of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel." Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. at 620, 690 S.E.2d at 571 (quoting Rothgery v. Gillespie Cnty., 554 U.S. 191, 128 S.Ct. 2578, 2592 (2008)).

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