STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2010-165126

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JUSTIN RYAN HILLERBY,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
DEC 31 2012

SC Court of Appeals

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

C. Harmless Error

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 55,

625 S.E.2d at 223. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” Bailey, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584. Thus, when overwhelming evidence of guilt has been presented or when erroneously admitted evidence is merely cumulative to other properly admitted evidence, any trial error may be harmless. See State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (“[I]n view of the overwhelming evidence of appellant’s guilt, we hold any error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”).

In the case sub judice, even assuming the trial judge erred in admitting the testimony of Hall and Thaman, any error was entirely harmless in light of the cumulative nature of the evidence and in light of the insignificance of the testimony when considered in relation to the other overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Regarding the cumulative nature of the testimony, Spoerl testified in a manner consistent with Thaman without objection and stated Appellant called Victim a “pussy” at the pool prior to his death, which constituted cumulative evidence of Appellant’s cruel, indifferent, and

hostile behavior towards Victim shortly before Victim's death. See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) ("Immediately prior to the testimony of the victim's mother and aunt the victim's cousin testified *without objection* as to what the victim related to her about the incident. It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence." (italics in original)). Furthermore, regarding the relationship of the prior bad act evidence to the other evidence presented during trial, the testimony regarding Appellant's statements to Spoerl and to law enforcement constituted overwhelming evidence of guilt and rendered any error in the admission of the prior bad act evidence entirely harmless. Notably, Appellant admitted to repeatedly striking Victim in his final written statement and confessed to striking Victim in a recorded phone call to Spoerl from the detention center. In the recorded phone call, Appellant candidly admitted to Spoerl that his final statement to law enforcement in which he admitted his guilt was a truthful account of what caused Victim's death. Accordingly, in light of Appellant's candid admissions to Victim's mother and to the law enforcement officers he spoke with, the prior bad act evidence, even if improperly admitted, could not have impacted the verdict and was harmless.¹⁴ See Bailey, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584 ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result."). Accordingly, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

¹⁴ Following his conviction, Appellant acknowledged the importance of his statements to the verdict, commenting: "And I know my statements are probable what convicted me." (Vol. 4 Tr. p. 225).

III.

The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in overruling Appellant's objections to Georgoulis' testimony because the challenged testimony was relevant to the context of the events leading up to Victim's death, the credibility of Appellant, and the bias of Georgoulis. Furthermore, any error in the admission of the challenged testimony was entirely harmless in light of the other overwhelming evidence of guilt and the lack of prejudice that resulted from the admission of the testimony.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting the testimony of his ex-girlfriend, Georgoulis, regarding his whereabouts on the night before Victim's death, his mood when he left Georgoulis' house before taking Victim to the pool, and his mother's living arrangements at the time of trial. Appellant contends the evidence was irrelevant to the matter in controversy and its probative value was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect.¹⁵ To the contrary, the trial judge properly admitted Georgoulis' testimony because the objected-to portions of her testimony were relevant towards establishing the full context of the events leading up to Victim's death and were relevant towards the credibility of Appellant and the bias of Georgoulis. However, even if the trial judge erred in admitting Georgoulis' challenged testimony, any error was harmless in light of the other overwhelming evidence of guilt and the lack of prejudice that resulted from the admission of the testimony. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

A. Admissibility and Relevancy of the Challenged Testimony

The reception or exclusion of evidence is a matter left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 190-191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32

¹⁵ During trial, Appellant solely objected to the testimony of Georgoulis on the basis of relevancy and did not allege the prejudicial effect of the testimony substantially outweighed its probative value. (Vol. 2 Tr. pp. 153-154). Accordingly, any issue regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of Georgoulis' testimony was not preserved for appellate review. See Thomason, 355 S.C. at 288, 584 S.E.2d at 148 (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); Adams, 354 S.C. at 380, 580 S.E.2d at 795 (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”); see also Patterson, 324 S.C. at 19, 482 S.E.2d at 767 (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”).

(1980). A trial judge's ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence will not be reversed on appeal unless that ruling constituted "a **manifest abuse of discretion** accompanied by probable prejudice." State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) (emphasis added). "Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict." Byers, 392 S.C. at 444, 710 S.E.2d at 58. On appeal, an appellate court will give "great deference" to the trial judge when reviewing a ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010).

Only relevant evidence should during admitted at trial. Rule 402, SCRE. "Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears." State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE (" 'Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.' "). Evidence which could assist the jury in arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and should be admitted during trial. State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986).

"Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced." Rule 608(c), SCRE. Regarding evidence of bias, the United States Supreme Court has instructed:

Bias is a term used in the "common law of evidence" to describe the relationship between a party and a witness which might lead the witness to slant, unconsciously or otherwise, his testimony in favor of or against a party. Bias may be induced by a witness' like, dislike, or fear of a party, or by the witness' self-interest. **Proof of bias is almost always relevant**

because the jury, as finder of fact and weigher of credibility, has historically been entitled to assess all evidence which might bear on the accuracy and truth of a witness' testimony.

United States v. Abel, 469 U.S. 45, 52 (1984) (emphasis added). Thus, any evidence tending to shed light on the accuracy, truthfulness, or sincerity of a witness can be presented during trial and considered by the jury in evaluating the credibility weight to be given to a witness' testimony. State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 570, 541 S.E.2d 813, 817 (2001).

In Appellant's case, the trial judge did not err in overruling Appellant's objections to the relevancy of Georgoulis' testimony. First, Appellant contended Georgoulis should not have been permitted to testify about whether he was at her home on the night before Victim was killed. However, that testimony was relevant and admissible to provide a full account of the circumstances leading up to Victim's death and was also highly relevant in regards to Appellant's credibility, which was one of the most pivotal issues in Appellant's case. Significantly, prior to Georgoulis' testimony, Spoerl had testified Appellant told her he spent the night of September 13, 2008, at the location of a party he attended and not Georgoulis' house, but Georgoulis testified Appellant stayed with her when asked about Appellant's whereabouts on that night. For that reason, Georgoulis' testimony demonstrated Appellant had been untruthful to Spoerl, which was a significant fact for the jury to consider when attempting to determine not only the truthfulness of Appellant's statements to law enforcement and to Spoerl but also his testimony during trial. See State v. McMillian, 349 S.C. 17, 22, 561 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2002) (instructing the fact that a witness previously lied about an address was relevant to the witness' overall credibility). Next, Appellant contended Georgoulis should not have been permitted to testify about his mood when he left her home on September 14, 2008.

However, Appellant's mood directly before he went to pick up Victim was relevant to show the entire context of the circumstances leading up to Victim's death.¹⁶ See State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 289, 676 S.E.2d 690, 696 (2009) (finding Holder's co-worker's testimony regarding changes in Holder's behavior and manner of dress several weeks prior to the victim's death was relevant and admissible to establish Holder manifested an extreme indifference towards the victim's well-being, which was an element of the indicted offense of homicide by child abuse). Finally, Appellant contended Georgoulis should not have been permitted to testify about the fact his mother was staying at her home at the time of trial. However, the fact Appellant's mother was staying with Georgoulis at that time was highly relevant on the issue of any bias Georgoulis might have had towards Appellant because it showed she still had some connection with or relationship to him. See State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 325, 531 S.E.2d 907, 915 (2000) ("A witness' romantic relationship with a party is a source of potential bias of which the jury should be aware in order to fully evaluate the witness' testimony."). For the foregoing reasons, the trial judge did not err in overruling Appellant's objections to the relevancy of Georgoulis' testimony, and her ruling was not manifestly erroneous. See State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 140, 731 S.E.2d 604, 611 (Ct. App. 2012) ("The trial court has broad discretion in determining the relevancy of evidence and its decision to admit or exclude evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion and a showing of prejudice.").

¹⁶ Notably, defense counsel elicited cumulative testimony about Appellant's mood at the time he left Georgoulis' home on cross-examination. (Vol. 2 Tr. pp. 159-160). Thus, Appellant waived any objection he had to the admission of that testimony during the direct examination of Georgoulis. See State v. McKinney, 258 S.C. 570, 571, 190 S.E.2d 30, 30 (1972) ("During the course of the trial certain testimony was admitted over the objection of [McKinney's] counsel. Thereafter, counsel for the appellant cross-examined the witness thereabout without reserving the objection previously made. The objection was thereby lost and if any error had been committed in the admission of the testimony it was cured.").

B. Harmless Error

Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. Adams, 354 S.C. at 380, 580 S.E.2d at 795. “It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him.” State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 285, 288 (1947). When a review of the entire record establishes an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court should not reverse a conviction. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003).

In the case at bar, any error resulting from the admission of Georgoulis’ testimony regarding Appellant’s presence at her house on the night of September 13, 2008, Appellant’s mood when he left her home the next morning, and Appellant’s mother staying with her at the time of trial was entirely harmless when considered in the context of the entire record. In addition to Georgoulis’ testimony, which simply established Appellant spent the night at her home on the night before Victim was killed, Appellant was angry when he left, and Appellant’s mother was staying with Georgoulis at the time of trial, other highly damaging and overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt was presented during trial, including Appellant’s signed statements to law enforcement admitting his role in Victim’s death and a recording of Appellant’s acknowledgement to Spoerl that he knocked Victim to the floor before he died. When considering the significance of the challenged testimony in relation to the other evidence presented during trial, it could not have impacted the verdict. Thus, its admission, even if

erroneous, was entirely harmless.¹⁷ See Fletcher, 379 S.C. at 25, 664 S.E.2d at 484 (“Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”). Accordingly, Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

¹⁷ Notably, the only prejudice Appellant identified as resulting from the admission of Georgoulis’ testimony was that the challenged testimony established “Appellant was in a relationship with two women at the same time and stayed with one on September 13th and the other on September 14th.” (App. Br. p. 34). However, numerous other witnesses, including Appellant and his stepfather, testified to the fact Appellant was seeing Georgoulis and Spoerl at the same time. Accordingly, any prejudice that resulted from the admission of the challenged testimony was merely cumulative to the prejudice that resulted from the other properly admitted testimony confirming the same allegedly-prejudicial fact. See State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 68, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (“An insubstantial error is harmless when guilt is proven by competent evidence such that no other rational decision could be reached or when the evidence is merely cumulative of other evidence.”); State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 293, 681 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 2009) (“[T]he admission of improper evidence is deemed harmless if it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”).


CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.